FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/13/2018 2:33 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 4/11/2018 4:59 PM

No.	95724-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 76105-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALASKA STRUCTURES, INC.

Appellant,

v.

CHARLES J. HEDLUND,

Respondent/Petitioner.

HEDLUND'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michele Earl-Hubbard WSBA No. 26454 Allied Law Group LLC P.O. Box 33744 Seattle, WA 98133 (206) 801-7510 (Phone) (206) 428-7169 (Fax) Attorney for Defendant/Petitioner Charles J. Hedlund

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Charles J, Hedlund ("Hedlund") was the Defendant in the trial court and the Respondent in the Court of Appeals.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division One issued an opinion on 1/16/18, attached as **Appendix A**, overturning a significant portion of the trial court's fee and cost award to Hedlund, without any finding of an abuse of discretion by the trial court. The fees and costs had been awarded based on fee shifting language in a Confidentiality Agreement after summary judgment was granted against Plaintiff Alaska Structures ("AKS") on its breach of agreement lawsuit. The Appellate Decision denying the majority of the fees and costs was based solely on the fact the fees and costs were incurred in an earlier appeal by AKS in the same case that succeeded in having dismissal under the then-valid Anti-SLAPP law RCW 4.24.525 re-instated on the basis that the cause of action, although based solely on a posting on an internet jobs forum, was a contract claim and thus not covered by the statute.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in overturning the trial judge's determination that the fees and costs incurred on the first appeal were reasonable and subject to reimbursement under the contract fee shifting language when the appellate court's determination was based solely on the fact the first appeal by AKS of the dismissal order resulted in a re-instatement of the claim, even though on remand summary judgment was granted against AKS and for Hedlund and the case again dismissed?

- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in overturning the trial judge's determination of the reasonableness of fees and costs without finding an abuse of discretion or that any fees or costs incurred were excessive or duplicative or completely unnecessary to the ultimate outcome of dismissal for Hedlund?
- 3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in awarding costs to AKS on the appeal?
- 4. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in denying fees and costs to Hedlund on the current appeal?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant/Plaintiff AKS manufactures tents. In 2012 it sued its former employee Respondent/Petitioner Hedlund for allegedly violating a Confidentiality Agreement by posting a comment on an internet public jobs forum eighteen months after Hedlund left AKS about events occurring after Hedlund had left AKS. The events about which Hedlund posted had been widely publicized and the relevant facts were disclosed in public records as well as court records and court proceedings for two commercial burglary prosecutions. The portion of the internet post for which Hedlund was sued was part of a longer post in which Hedlund called out current AKS employees for masquerading as job seekers on the internet jobs forum to spread false information and dispute posts by actual interviewees and former employees regarding their hostile and abusive treatment by AKS.

After being sued for breach of the Agreement over the post, and after Hedlund's name was disclosed and his dates of employment were known by AKS, Hedlund notified AKS through counsel that the events about which he posted occurred after he had left AKS and that the post could not possibly fall within the Confidentiality Agreement. Nonetheless, AKS persisted with the lawsuit.

The Confidentiality Agreement at issue contained a provision which stated: "In the event either party is required to institute legal action to enforce the provisions of this Agreement, the prevailing party in such litigation shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorney's fees as well as costs, expenses and disbursements." **CP 786 at ¶ 4.3.**

Finding himself sued as a Defendant by a wealthy, powerful, and litigious former employer, over a comment he posted on a public forum of an internet jobs forum identifying employer fraud, Hedlund obtained counsel working on a contingent fee basis based on the ability to achieve fee reimbursement under the then-valid Anti-SLAPP law. Hedlund promptly sought and obtained dismissal of the lawsuit pursuant to the then-valid Anti-SLAPP law. In the Anti-SLAPP motion proceeding, Hedlund had to establish not just that the Anti-SLAPP law applied to the claim but also that the internet post for which he had been sued did not violate the Confidentiality Agreement. The majority of the briefing and

argument by both parties focused on this latter issue.

When the trial judge, then-King County Superior Court Judge Mary Yu, granted the motion and dismissed the lawsuit, her ruling made clear she was finding that Hedlund's post could not conceivably violate the Agreement as it was posted after Hedlund left the company about events that occurred after he had left, did not reveal confidential information, and that nothing he said could conceivably violate the Agreement. See. e.g., Report of Proceedings 8/17/12 at 49:4-9, attached as **Appendix E**.¹

AKS appealed to Division One seeking to re-instate the lawsuit. On appeal, much of the briefing and argument again focused on whether or not Hedlund had violated the Confidentiality Agreement, and only partially on whether or not the speech at issue in the claim could fall within the Anti-SLAPP law. See, e.g., CP 931-933 (excerpts of AKS's appellate reply brief in the first appeal that were made a part of the Summary Judgment Motion at issue in this appeal). AKS vehemently argued that AKS's breach of confidentiality agreement claim against Hedlund should not be dismissed and should be reinstated arguing Hedlund had violated the Confidentiality Agreement.

Division One disagreed with the first prong of the test—whether or not the speech at issue was public participation or speech on a matter of

¹ This Report of Proceedings was made part of the appellate record for the instant appeal.

legitimate public concern—reversing the Anti-SLAPP dismissal. It did so on a flawed basis, finding that "breach of contract" claims could not be covered, rather than exploring the actual conduct at issue (here speech in a public forum about a matter of legitimate public concern—reporting the fraud committed by AKS officials masquerading as job seekers on the internet jobs forum.)² The ruling made clear that it was not deciding whether or not the breach of contract claim had merit, and specifically noted that Hedlund might obtain summary judgment on remand and be entitled to his fees and costs under the Agreement:

[Our holding is] limited to [our] conclusion that Hedlund does not meet the threshold standard for application of the statute and does not in any way preclude the trial court from determining the sufficiency of the complaint for breach of contract on summary judgment. The issue of whether Hedlund violated the confidentiality agreement may well lend itself to summary judgment dismissal, and Hedlund may be entitled to attorney fees under that contract.

<u>Alaska Structures v. Hedlund</u>, 180 Wn. App. 591, 603-04, 323 P.3d 1082 (2014).

After re-instatement of the lawsuit, AKS did not drop its case but continued to litigate it. Hedlund moved for summary judgment and again obtained dismissal for the second time, this time as summary judgment, with a second judge³ also determining that AKS could not show that

² See Hedlund's Petition for Review of that first Division One ruling, attached as **Appendix D**, for a detailed explanation of the flaws with Division One's earlier holding.

³ The Honorable Suzanne Parisien.

Hedlund's internet post violated the Confidentiality Agreement. AKS continued to vehemently argue at the summary judgment stage that the Confidentiality Agreement had been violated.

On 9/30/16, the Honorable Suzanne Parisien granted summary judgment for Hedlund finding, as Judge Yu had previously done, that AKS had not shown and could not show that the post by Hedlund violated the Confidentiality Agreement. See **CP 263-265**. The Order declared Hedlund the prevailing party and

Orders that pursuant to the Confidentiality Agreement paragraph 4.3 that Defendant shall be awarded his reasonable attorney's fees and all costs incurred in this action to date, including fees and costs incurred in connection with the Georgia proceedings, the Division One Court of Appeals action, before the Washington State Supreme Court, and while litigating as a John Doe. These fees and costs shall be paid by Plaintiff Alaska Structures. The appellate cost award issued by the appellate courts against Hedlund is deemed a cost and as such it, and any interest, would be required to be repaid to Hedlund by Alaska Structures. The amount of the attorney's fees and costs shall be determined by this Court after subsequent briefing and hearing unless the parties reach agreement as to the amounts of such awards. Defendant shall be entitled to an award of reasonable attorney's fees and all costs incurred in connection with such fee and cost motion, the amounts of which shall be determined by the Court in conjunction with the fee and penalty motions.

CP 264-265. Hedlund provided detailed copies of every attorney invoice and details as to all costs as well as past fee awards for Hedlund's counsel and supporting declarations as to the reasonableness of her rates. CP 266-384, 458-462. In ruling, the trial court reviewed every time entry and cost

charge and the complete trial court and earlier appellate court record, and extensive briefing from both parties on the allowable fees and costs. The trial court held that

The work performed here was appropriate and necessary to lead to dismissal of this action and a judgment in favor of Defendant Hedlund. Alaska Structures, while it succeeded in having the case reinstated and a dismissal based on the Anti-SLAPP law overturned, did not prevail in the lawsuit as a whole and had summary judgment granted against it, and in favor for Defendant, on remand. The fact the original dismissal was overturned due to Division One's disagreement that the Anti-SLAPP law applied to this type of case should not preclude an award to Hedlund under the Contract provision for all his reasonable fees and costs incurred ion this action.

CP 472 at lines 13-21. The trial judge exercised her considerable discretion and denied Hedlund \$11,182.10 in requested fees.⁴ The trial court awarded fees of \$119,160.13 and costs of \$12.392.29 including appellate costs Hedlund incurred. CP 472-473. The fees and costs were awarded under the contract provision as "reasonable" fees and costs incurred from defending against the unsuccessful breach of agreement case brought by AKS. <u>Id.</u>

AKS again appealed to Division One, this time to seek reversal of the trial court's fee and cost award to Hedlund pursuant to the fee recovery language in the Confidentiality Agreement. AKS argued that Hedlund should recover **no** fees and costs as he had not won a Georgia hearing

⁴ Hedlund had requested fees of \$130,342.23 and costs of \$12,392.29. **CP 277**.

where he sought to prevent an internet service provider from disclosing the name of the customer associated with the internet address used to post the comment, or the Division One first appeal that re-instated the case after the Anti-SLAPP dismissal. AKS also specifically sought a reversal of the award of fees and costs for the Georgia proceeding arguing Hedlund had not prevailed on the Georgia motion as the name had been disclosed.

Division One issued its Opinion on 1/16/18 after notifying the parties it would not allow oral argument of the appeal. It upheld the trial court's award of the fees and costs for the Georgia proceeding and award of fees and costs for the summary judgment motion. **Opinion at 5 and n. 3 (App.**

A). The Opinion stated:

AKS brought this suit against Hedlund for an alleged violation of the Agreement. 'The issue here is a simple contractual issue—whether or not Hedlund violated a contract he signed with his former employer.' Hedlund, 180 Wn. App. at 603. As the trial court determined on summary judgment, he had not. There is no dispute that, pursuant to the fee shifting provision of the Agreement, Hedlund is entitled to recover attorney fees and costs incurred in defending against that claim.

Opinion at 5 (emphasis added). The Opinion further stated as follows:

It is for this reason that Hedlund is entitled to fees and costs associated with the Georgia proceeding. AKS first filed its breach of contract claim against John Doe and then sought to compel the identity of the anonymous poster. This was an action to enforce the Agreement.

Pursuant to the fee shifting provision, Hedlund is entitled to recover attorney fees and costs stemming from actions brought to enforce the Agreement.

Opinion at p. 5 n. 3 (emphasis added). But Division One held that Hedlund was not entitled to <u>any</u> of the fees and costs from the first appeal which had re-instated the AKS lawsuit against him. Division One remanded for the trial court to exclude all fees incurred on the appeals to Division One and the first Petition for Review of that opinion to the State Supreme Court, which was the majority of the fees and more than \$100,000. Opinion at 6.

Division One then awarded AKS costs as the "prevailing party" in the instant appeal and denied Hedlund fees or costs on this appeal. **Opinion at 6 and n. 4**. AKS submitted a Cost Bill seeking an additional \$1,077.23 on top of the \$6,180.57 awarded as Costs to AKS from the first appeal, which Division One granted. **App. C** (2018 Cost Award). The majority of the earlier cost award was for a bond that AKS posted voluntarily, without any request from the Courts or Hedlund, in amount several times greater than the judgment then at issue. The current Opinion denies Hedlund any of his fees and costs incurred in both appeals, more than \$100,000 in attorneys' fees to date, and forces Hedlund to pay AKS total costs of \$7,257.80 even though Hedlund. Division One did not find that Judge Parisien had abused her discretion or point to any fee or cost entry that was duplicative, excessive or unnecessary to achieving the ultimate dismissal of the lawsuit. Division One held that the George motion, which

Hedlund lost, was an event for which Hedlund should be compensated, but it held that fees and costs from the entire appeal of the Anti-SLAPP dismissal should not have been awarded – although its reasoning is unclear, and unstated, except to say that Hedlund had not "prevailed" in avoiding re-instatement of the lawsuit. Although Division One denied AKS much of the relief it requested, Division One awarded AKS costs and denied Hedlund fees or costs finding Hedlund had not prevailed. Hedlund moved for reconsideration, which was denied on 3/14/18 (**Appendix B**.). This Petition for Review follows.

V. ARGUMENT

Review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

A. The Decision Conflicts with Decisions of the State Supreme Court.

The Opinion conflicts with decisions of the State Supreme Court meriting acceptance pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1). This Court has held that "The standard of review of a fee award is manifest abuse of discretion. Boeing Co. v. Sierracin Corp., 108 Wn.2d 38, 65, 738 P.2d 665 (1987). Accordingly, the scope of appellate review is narrow."

Fisher Properties, Inc. v. Arden-Mayfair, Inc., 115 Wn.2d 364, 375, 798 P.2d 79 (1990).

This Court has held that "An abuse of discretion exists only where no reasonable person would take the position adopted by the trial

court." <u>Singleton v. Frost</u>, 108 Wn.2d 723, 730, 742 P.2d 1224 (1987) (emphasis added); see also <u>Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc.</u>, 92 Wash.2d 576, 599 P.2d 1289 (1979).

The Opinion issued by Division One is in conflict with these holdings from this Court as it does not find an abuse of discretion or that no reasonable person would take the position taken by the trial judge. It does not address, at all, the trial court's determination that the fees and costs incurred on the first appeal were necessary and reasonable to achieve the ultimate dismissal that was obtained. The Opinion further is internally inconsistent and contradicts itself and the result it ultimately reaches as to both parties as further explained below.

On remand from the first appeal, AKS did not drop its lawsuit. It continued to sue Hedlund for breach of the Agreement, and Hedlund moved for summary judgment, which AKS vigorously opposed. Hedlund won summary judgment and had the AKS lawsuit dismissed for the second time. Hedlund was, and is, the "prevailing party" in this litigation. Under the terms of the Contract "the prevailing party in such litigation shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorney's fees as well as costs, expenses and disbursements." **CP 786 ¶ 4.3**. The trial judge determined that the fees and costs incurred in the first appeal, in the Georgia proceeding, and in the initial dismissal motion were all incurred in

connection with Hedlund's defense of the claim brought against him by AKS, and that the appeal by AKS—seeking to re-instate the lawsuit—was an action by AKS to enforce that Agreement. The trial court did discount and not award Hedlund more than \$11,000 in fees requested by Hedlund. The trial court had broad discretion to determine the appropriate fee and cost award. Division One's ruling does not find, and could not appropriately find, that no reasonable person would take the position adopted by the trial court, as is required to overturn the judge's award on the manifest abuse of discretion standard that applies here. **Singleton**, 108 Wn.2d at 730. There was no principled basis for Division One to exclude those fees and costs, and yet award the Georgia fees and costs as it did here. The Opinion conflicts with the Supreme Court's holdings requiring an abuse of discretion and that no reasonable person would find as the trial court did, a finding that would be impossible to make under the facts of this case.

Division One was not allowed by this Court's precedents to overturn the trial judge who issued the fee and costs award below, after presiding over the summary judgment proceeding and reviewing methodically the briefing from the appeal and the entire trial court record and each and every time entry and cost record, without finding she manifestly abused her discretion and acted as no reasonable person would act under the circumstances. Division One did not make such a finding, and on this record cannot make such a finding, since this learned judge acted understandably, and reasonably, when she determined that AKS's reinstatement appeal—to re-instate its lawsuit that had been dismissed by a finding it could not show Hedlund's post violated the Agreement—was an action to enforce the Agreement, and that Hedlund's defense of that appeal was an action to defend against AKS's contract claim. Division One further cannot make such a finding, since this judge acted understandably, and reasonably, when she determined that the original motion to dismiss was an action to defend against AKS's claim.

Hedlund was sued by his former employer and forced to litigate and defend himself against the contract claim for nearly seven years. He has incurred attorney's fees of more than \$100,000 on appeals, and he was ordered by Division One to pay costs to AKS, who lost the lawsuit, \$7,257.80.⁵ AKS was told twice, by two different trial court judges—both very well-informed and familiar with the record—that AKS could not establish that what Hedlund posted in an internet chat room violated the Confidentiality Agreement. Yet AKS continues to litigate and try and further punish and bankrupt Hedlund likely spending far more to wage this fight than it has ever been ordered to pay.

_

 $^{^5}$ See App. C (2018 Cost award of \$1,077.23). \$6,180.57 in costs was awarded to AKS in the first appeal.

B. The Decision Conflicts with Decisions of the Court of Appeals.

First, Division One acknowledges in the Opinion that "pursuant to the fee shifting provision of the Agreement, Hedlund is entitled to recover attorney fees and costs incurred in defending against [AKS's breach of confidentiality agreement] claim." **Opinion at 5**. Division One recognized that the fees and costs incurred by Hedlund in connection with the Georgia motion, which Hedlund lost, should nonetheless be awarded to Hedlund because the Georgia motion, and Hedlund's defense against it, was "an action to enforce the Agreement. Pursuant to the fee shifting provision, Hedlund is entitled to recover attorney fees and costs stemming from actions brought to enforce the Agreement." **Opinion at 5 n. 3.**

Division One misapprehended the Anti-SLAPP dismissal and AKS's appeal of the Anti-SLAPP dismissal. Hedlund brought a motion to dismiss—under a law that was new, and valid, and legitimately seemed to apply to the claim (and will all due respect to Division One, did in fact apply to the claim⁶), very early in the litigation to avoid costly and unnecessary discovery or arguments for delay of a summary judgment

-

⁶ The Division One holding in this case in the first appeal that the Anti-SLAPP law could not apply to a private contractual claim has subsequently been shown to have been erroneous as <u>Davis v. Cox</u>, 183 Wn.2d 269, 351 P.3d 862 (2015), which declared the Anti-SLAPP law to be unconstitutional, was in part a breach of agreement case, and the State Supreme Court, noting this, specifically held the Anti-SLAPP law to apply to such claims. If the Anti-SLAPP law applied the agreement at issue in <u>Davis</u>, which this Court found it did, then it also applied to the one at issue here.

motion. Hedlund won that dismissal motion, not merely because the trial court found the claim infringed on a right of public participation or speech, but because AKS could not establish that what Hedlund had posted in his internet post could possibly be found to have violated his Confidentiality Agreement. Hedlund did not bring a "claim" against AKS; he moved to dismiss AKS's contract claim, successfully, when AKS could not show that it could establish what Hedlund had posted could possibly be found to have violated the contract.

AKS appealed to Division One to have the lawsuit re-instated. The majority of the briefing in the appeal dealt with whether or not what Hedlund posted could have been found to have been "confidential" and covered by the Agreement, not whether or not the claim appropriately fell within the Anti-SLAPP law's scope.

Division One, in **Ryan and Wages, LLC v. Wages**, held that "One cannot sue for breach under a contract that has a prevailing party attorney fee clause and then cry foul when held liable for an award of fees to a successful defendant." **Ryan and Wages, LLC v. Wages**, No. 68253–9–I, 174 Wn. App. 1017, 2013 WL 1164786 (Mar. 18, 2013) (Div. I, Wash. Ct App., Judges Becker, Leach and Grosse) (unpublished).

In <u>Columbia State Bank v. Lnvicta Law Group</u>, 199 Wn. App. 306, 330-331 (Div. 1, 2017, Judges Mann, Dwyer and Cox), Division One held

that a prevailing party can recover under a contractual fee-shifting provision when the opposing party brings a claim "on the contract":

An action is "'on the contract' "for purposes of a contractual attorney fees provision if the action (1) "'arose out of the contract' "and (2) "'if the contract is central to the dispute.' "Boauch, 153 Wn.App. at 615 (quoting <u>Tradewell Group, Inc. v. Mavis</u>, 71 Wn.App. 120, 130, 857 P.2d 1053 (1993)).

Columbia State Bank, 199 Wn. App. at 330-331.

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