FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/4/2018 4:14 PM OBY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95724-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALASKA STRUCTURES, INC.,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

CHARLES J. HEDLUND,

Defendant/Respondent.

ALASKA STRUCTURES, INC.'S ANSWER TO HEDLUND'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

O. Yale Lewis, Jr. WSBA No. 1367 Attorneys for Alaska Structures, Inc.

Hendricks & Lewis PLLC 1561 Federal Ave. E. Seattle, Washington 98102 (206) 624-1933



{201237.DOCX }

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

IV. ARGUMENT.

A. The Court of Appeals Decision is Fully Consistent with Decisions of This Court.

The contractual fee-shifting provision on which Hedlund relies does not provide for an award of all of the prevailing party's fees and costs. Rather it explicitly provides for an award of "reasonable" fees and costs to the prevailing party which requires the trial court to exclude fees and costs incurred on unsuccessful theories. See, e.g., Bowers at 597 (the court must limit the lodestar to hours reasonably expended, and should therefore discount hours spent "on unsuccessful claims, duplicated effort, or otherwise unproductive time"). Accord, Pham v. Seattle City Light, supra, 159 Wn.2d at 538 ("The court should discount hours spent on unsuccessful claims, duplicated or wasted effort, or otherwise unproductive time."); Mahler v. Szucs, 135 Wn.2d 398, 957 P.2d 632 (1998) ("Necessarily, this decision requires the court to exclude from the requested hours any wasteful or duplicative hours and any hours pertaining to unsuccessful theories or claims."); Fetzer v. Weeks, 122 Wn.2d 141, 151, 859 P.2d 1210 (1993) (court must limit the lodestar to hours reasonably expended, and should therefore discount hours spent on unsuccessful claims, duplicated effort, or otherwise unproductive time).

Here, as the Court of Appeals concluded, Hedlund's anti-SLAPP motion advanced a legal theory separate and distinct from the merits of the contractual claim. The Court of Appeals' determination that Hedlund did not meet the threshold standard for application of the anti-SLAPP statute confirmed that his legal theory was wholly unsuccessful. *Alaska Structures, Inc. v. Hedlund*, 180 Wn. App. 591, 603-04, 323 P.3d 1082 (2014). Consequently, the reversal of the trial court's fee award and remand for entry of an award that excludes attorney fees and costs incurred in the initial appeal and Supreme Court petition is consistent with and indeed, required by *SAK & Assocs.. Inc. v. Ferguson Constr. Inc.*, 189 Wn. App. 405, 421, 357 P.3d 671 (2015) and *Mahler v. Szucs, supra.*

None of the cases Hedlund cites supports of his argument that the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with decisions of this Court.

Boeing Co. v. Sierracin Corp., 108 Wn. 2d 38, 738 P.2d 665 (1987) which relied on *Bowers* for the proposition that "[t]he amount of a fee award is discretionary, and will be overturned only for manifest abuse," *id.* at 65, reversed the fee award, in part, because this Court "disagree[d] with the method used by the trial court." *Id.*

Fisher Properties, Inc. v. Arden Mayfair, Inc., 115 Wn.2d 364, 798 P.2d 799 (1990), demonstrates the propriety of reversing and remanding to segregate out inappropriate fee awards, as the Court of Appeals did in this case. Fisher, 115 Wn.2d 364, was the second time this Court considered that case. The first time the case reached this Court, Fisher Properties, Inc. v. Arden-Mayfair, Inc., 106 Wn.2d 826, 726 P.2d 8 (1986) the defendant Arden Mayfair asserted that the trial court had erred in awarding Fisher attorney fees for almost all of the services Fisher's attorneys awarded because most of the judgment for damages was based on claims for which attorney fees were not authorized. The lease at issue contained no provision authorizing attorney fees. The sole provision authorizing attorney fees was the commissive waste statute, RCW 64.12.020. This Court agreed that the fee award was improper because it was inconsistent with the general rule requiring that attorney fees may be awarded only when authorized by a private agreement, a statute or a recognized ground of equity. Fisher Properties v. Arden Mayfair, 106 Wn.2d at 849-50. Consequently, this Court reversed and remanded to require the trial court to determine the portion of Fisher Properties' attorneys' services that would have been provided had *only* the commissive waste claim been raised and to award only fees attributable to those services. Id. at 850.

On remand, the trial court segregated and computed the fees for the commissive waste claim. Then, on the appeal following that exercise, this Court concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in

computing the amount of those fees at the attorneys' historical rates in effect at the time the services were rendered. 115 Wn.2d at 377.

In this case, the Court of Appeals declared, "Washington case law recognizes that a reasonableness determination requires the court to exclude any hours pertaining to unsuccessful theories or claims." Opinion at 6 (*citing SAK & Assocs. Inc. v. Ferguson Constr. Inc., supra*, 189 Wn. App. at 421 (*quoting Mahler, supra*, 135 Wn.2d at 434). This declaration is wholly consistent with *Singleton v. Frost, supra*, which explicitly endorsed the *Bowers* rule that "the trial court should consider the total hours *necessarily expended* in the litigation by each attorney." 108 Wn.2d at 733 (emphasis added).

Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc., 92 Wn.2d 576, 599 P.2d 1289 (1979), addressed the propriety of entry of a default judgment but did not address attorney fees and costs at all. It stated the general rule that a court abuses its discretion "when no reasonable person would take the position adopted by the trial court," *id.* at 584 (citation omitted) and approved the trial court's vacating a default judgment even though there had been a rule violation in obtaining that judgment.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision is Fully Consistent with Court of Appeals Precedent.

None of the cases Hedlund cites are inconsistent with other

decisions by the Court of Appeals. In fact, they highlight the propriety of the Court of Appeals' approach.

In *Boguch v. Landover Corp.*, 153 Wn. App. 595, 224 P.2d 795 (2009), plaintiff entered into an exclusive sale and listing agreement with two real estate brokers for the sale of certain real estate. The property did not sell and Boguch sued the brokers for breach of contract, negligence and breach of professional duties under RCW 18.86. Eventually, Boguch lost on summary judgment, and the realtors were awarded attorney fees and costs under a provision in the listing agreement which specified "[i]n the event either party employs an attorney to enforce any terms of this Agreement and is successful, the other party agrees to pay reasonable attorneys' fees." *Id.* at 107.

On appeal, Boguch contended that the trial court erred in awarding fees for the negligence and breach of professional statutory duties. The Court of Appeals agreed. "Whether a party is entitled to attorney fees is an issue of law that the reviewing court reviews de novo." *Boguch* at 615 (citations omitted). The applicable rule of law was that "A prevailing party may recover attorney fees under a contractual fee-shifting provision such as the one at issue herein only if a party brings a 'claim on the contract." *Id.* The court continued, "If a party alleges breach of duty imposed by an external source, such as a statute or the common law, the

party does not bring an action on the contract, even if the duty would not exist in the absence of a contractual relationship." *Id.* (citations omitted). The court concluded that neither the negligence claim nor the assertion of breach of professional duties were actions on the contract because these claims did not violate specific contractual undertakings. *Id.* at 615-19.⁴

While the amount of a fee award is discretionary, *Boeing v. Sierracin Corp., supra*, 108 Wn.2d at 65, when fees are awarded for ineligible matters, "'the award must properly reflect a segregation of the time spend on issues for which fees are authorized from time spent on other issues." *Boguch* at 620 (citation omitted). Because the fee award included an award for ineligible matters, it was necessary to vacate the fee award and remand for segregation and recalculation. *Id.* at 621.

Tradewell Group Inc. v. Mavis, 71 Wn.App. 120, 857 P.2d 1053 (1993), is similar. It was, in relevant part, an unsuccessful action by a lessor under a lease. The Court of Appeals held that the trial court had properly limited defendant's award of attorney fees and costs to those incurred in defending lessor's breach of contract claim and denied fees for defending lessor's claims for promissory estoppel, unjust enrichment and tortious interference. *Id.* at 129. Although the contractual paragraph upon

⁴ Here, as in *Boguch*, the trial court awarded fees for a theory that was not based on the contract; namely, the anti-SLAPP statute. Consistent with *Boguch* the Court of Appeals also could have determined that Hedlund was not entitled to fees for his unsuccessful (and noncontractual) theory which was an issue of law reviewed de novo.

which the award was based encompassed "any litigation" involving enforcement of the parties' rights "hereunder" the Court of Appeals agreed that this language only established a right to fees and costs incurred in defending the contract-related claims. *Id.* at 129-30. The court concluded that tortious interference, unjust enrichment and promissory estoppel did not arise out of the lease/contract and consequently, the trial court did not err in denying the defendant's request for fees in defending against the noncontract claims. "[A]n action is on a contract for purposes of a contractual attorney fees provision if the action arose out of the contract and if the contract is central to the dispute." *Id.* at 130 (citations omitted).

Columbia State Bank v. Invicta Law Group, 199 Wn. App. 306, 330-331 (2017), restates rules set forth in Boguch and Tradewell Group, but on its facts, has little, if anything, to do with this case. The Court of Appeals held that a claim for successor liability on a breach of a professional limited liability company's promissory note extended liability to the individual who continued the limited liability company's law business even though that individual had not signed the promissory note as primary obligor. In addition, the individual successor became liable under the contractual provision for attorney fees. There is no question of successor liability in this case.

Ryan and Wages, LLC v. Wages, No 68253-9-I (Wa. Ct. App. Div.

One) 174 Wn. App. 1017 (2013) (unpublished), also is largely irrelevant here. In that case, the plaintiff made a claim under an operating agreement against a limited liability company that was not a party to the operating agreement and lost. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals affirmed a fee award to the limited liability company under a straightforward application of the equitable doctrine of mutuality of remedies which authorizes contractual fee awards even after the contract itself is ruled invalid or unenforceable. Here, there is no claim that the nondisclosure agreement was invalid or unenforceable and the doctrine of mutuality of remedies is wholly inapplicable.

Hedlund's assertion that the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that Alaska Structures rather than Hedlund had prevailed on appeal is specious. Alaska Structures did *not* appeal either the summary judgment or the trial court's award of Hedlund's fees and costs of \$23,321.48 related to that motion. Rather, the essential issue on appeal was whether under controlling Washington law, Hedlund was entitled to fees and costs for his unsuccessful anti-SLAPP campaign; and that issue was resolved decisively in favor of Alaska Structures which effectively reduced the contested portion of the fee award from \$108,230.75 (\$131,552.42 (trial court award) - \$23,321.85(uncontested by Alaska Structures) to \$41,951.49 (\$108230.75 - \$66,289.26 (anti-SLAPP portion)).

C. Hedlund Identifies No Issue of Substantial Public Interest Warranting Supreme Court Review.

Although Hedlund claims that Division One's decision concerns an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court (Petition at 19-20), he fails to identify a single factor that favors such a conclusion.

This is not public interest litigation, but rather a private dispute between two parties about fees and costs. Hedlund does not promote an important right affecting the public interest but rather his attorney's quest for more than \$100,000 in prosecuting an unsuccessful claim or theory.

That quest does not implicate new or uncertain law. It is wellsettled law in Washington that reasonable attorney fees do not include compensation for "unsuccessful claims and theories." *Bowers, supra*, 100 Wn.2d 597. Thus, the case does not demonstrate a need for an authoritative determination of any legal standard.

Hedlund asserts that this case concerns "the appropriate deference to be afforded to trial judge's [sic] determinations of fee and costs awards." (Petition at 19.) But the applicable standard of review is well established. *See* Section II Standard of Review, at 1-3, *supra*.

These legal principles encourage sound application of contract principles and discourage assertion of meritless claims and theories. They accord the respect that is due trial courts, the parties and their agreements.

The report of this unpublished opinion is unlikely to have any significant adverse impact on attorneys' willingness to bring contingent fee cases which ordinarily facilitate the assertion of affirmative claims rather than a defense to a contract action. Litigants will undoubtedly continue to litigate attorney fee and cost issues. But Hedlund has failed to demonstrate any significant likely recurrence of the particular issues that have arisen in this case.

V. CONCLUSION.

The opinion of the Court of Appeals is not inconsistent with decisions of this Court or with other decisions of the Washington Court of Appeals. There is no issue of substantial public interest that needs to be decided by this Court. Thus, Hedlund has failed to demonstrate that this Court should grant review of Division One's decision under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). Consequently, Hedlund's petition should be rejected. DATED this 4th day of May, 2018.